
For any apologies or requests for further information, or to give notice of a question to be 
asked by a member of the public 
Contact: Rachel Graves 
Tel: 01270 686473
E-Mail: rachel.graves@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Public Rights of Way Committee
Agenda

Date: Monday 9th March 2020
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the top of each report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision meetings are audio 
recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 10)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held 2 December 2019.

4. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

In accordance with paragraph 9 of Appendix 7 of the Procedure Rules, members 
of the public may speak on a particular application after the Chairman has 
introduced the report, provided that notice has been given in writing to 
Democratic Services by 12 noon one clear working day before the meeting.  A 
total of 6 minutes is allocated for each application, with 3 minutes for objectors 
and 3 minutes for supporters.  If more than one person wishes to speak as an 
objector or supporter, the time will be allocated accordingly or those wishing to 
speak may agree that one of their number shall speak for all.

Public Document Pack

mailto:cherry.foreman@cheshireeast.gov.uk


Also in accordance with paragraph 2.32 of the Committee Procedural Rules and 
Appendix 7 of the Procedural Rules a total period of 10 minutes is allocated for 
members of the public to address the Committee on any matter relevant to the 
work of the body in question.  Individual members of the public may speak for up 
to 5 minutes but the Chairman will decide how the period of time allocated for 
public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of speakers.  
Members of the public are not required to give notice of the intention to speak, 
however as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours notice is encouraged.
 
Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question 
with that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given.  

5. Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 - Part III, Section 53: Application no. 
CO/8/52: Application for the Addition of a Public Right of Way along a route 
known as Manor Drive between Nantwich Road (A530) and Kerridge Close, 
Parish of Middlewich  (Pages 11 - 36)

To consider the application for the addition of a Public Right of Way along a route 
know as Manor Drive in the parish of Middlewich.

6. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257: Application for the 
Extinguishment of Public Footpath No. 20, Parish of Congleton  
(Pages 37 - 44)

To consider the application for the extinguishment of Public Footpath No.20 in 
the parish of Congleton.

7. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257:  Proposed Diversion of 
Public Footpath Hatherton No. 8 (Part)  (Pages 45 - 54)

To consider the application for the diversion of part of Public Footpath No.8 in the 
parish of Hatherton.

8. Informative Report on Cases of Uncontested Public Path Orders 
Determined under Delegated Decision  (Pages 55 - 58)

To note the Public Path Orders determined under Delegated Decision.

THERE ARE NO PART 2 ITEMS

Membership: Councillors S Akers Smith, H Faddes, I Macfarlane, S Pochin (Chairman), 
B Puddicombe (Vice-Chairman), D Stockton and L Wardlaw



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Public Rights of Way Committee
held on Monday, 2nd December, 2019 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, 

Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor B Puddicombe (Vice-Chair, in the Chair)

Councillors H Faddes, I Macfarlane, D Stockton and L Wardlaw

Officers in Attendance
Genni Butler, Acting Rights of Way Manager
Sarah Fraser, Public Path Orders Officer
Andrew Poynton, Planning and Highways Lawyer
Rachel Graves, Democratic Services Officer

24 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillors S Akers Smith and S Pochin.

25 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

26 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2019 be approved 
as a correct record.

27 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

No members of the public present wished to speak.

28 VILLAGE GREEN APPLICATION: APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND 
AT WOODSIDE, KNUTSFORD KNOWN LOCALLY AS COLLEGE 
WOOD 

The Committee considered a report which detailed an application made by 
Knutsford Town Council under section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006 to 
register an area of land known as College Wood, Woodside, Knutsford as 
a new village green.

The Council was the registration authority for village greens and 
responsibility for this function had been delegated to the Public Rights of 
Way Committee.  

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



The application was made pursuant to section 15(2) of the Commons Act 
2006, which required the applicant to demonstrate on the balance of 
probabilities that the land was used:
a. for lawful sports and pastimes for a period of at least 20 years and 

that this use continued to the date of the application
b. by a significant number of the inhabitants of a locality or of a 

neighbourhood within a locality
c. as of right.

The application, dated 27 June 2018, was received by the Council and 
validated on 27 July 2018.  The application related to a piece of land 
known as ‘College Wood’, which was located adjacent to the junction of 
Woodside and Thorneyholme Drive in Knutsford.  The application site 
consisted of unenclosed mixed woodland of an area of approximately 0.35 
hectares, with a number of informal paths running through the site.  

The application land was owned by the Shrewsbury Roman Catholic 
Diocesan Trustees and a copy of the public notice and application had 
been provided to them.  No objection to the application had been received 
from them.

Public notice was placed in the Wilmslow and Knutsford Guardian on 30 
May 2019 and two notices were placed close to the land on an adjacent 
lamppost and road sign.  No objections had been received from any party 
by the deadline of 29 July 2019.  

The fifty witness statements had been submitted by the applicant which 
confirmed that activities such as dog walking, bird watching, picnics, 
drawing and painting, community events, tree climbing, building dens, 
wildlife watching, people walking, team games and bicycle riding had all 
been undertaken on the application land for more than 20 years.

The applicant had confirmed that the locality of the land was the Over 
Ward parish and the neighbourhood within that ward could be defined as 
the Cross Town neighbourhood.  The majority of witness statements 
received came from those who lived or had previously lived within the 
Cross Town neighbourhood.

The witnesses confirmed that they had used the application land for lawful 
sports and pastimes openly, without force and without permissions and 
that this fell within the definition of the uses being ‘as of right’.  

The Committee considered the report and concluded that the application 
complied with the three requirements of Section 15(2) of the Commons Act 
2006 and that the land should be registered as a Town or Village Green.

The Committee unanimously

Page 4



RESOLVED:

That the application by Knutsford Town Council to register an area of land 
known as College Wood, Woodside, Knutsford be registered as a Town or 
Village Green.

29 HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 SECTION 119: APPLICATION FOR THE 
DIVERSION OF PUBLIC FOOTPATH NO. 45 (PART), PARISH OF 
MOBBERLEY 

The Committee considered a report which detailed an application from 
Mr T Cummins of Saltersley Hall Farm, Wilmslow, requesting the Council 
to make an Order under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 to divert 
part of Public Footpath No.45 in the parish of Mobberley. The application 
was made on the grounds of privacy and security of the property.

In accordance with Section 119(1) of the Highways Act 1980, it was within 
the Council’s discretion to make an Order to divert a public footpath if it 
appeared to the Council to be expedient to do so in the interests of the 
public or the owner, lessee or occupier of the land crossed by the path.

The section of path proposed to be diverted ran along the driveway 
leading to Saltersley Hall Farm, close to various out buildings and the 
farmhouse to its junction with Public Footpath No.52 Mobberley.  

The proposed diversion would run to the south of the Saltersley Hall Farm, 
along a field edge to connect to Public Footpath No. 52 Mobberley – as 
shown on Plan No.HA/146 between points A-C-D-E.  The proposed path 
would be four metres wide, surfaced with stone chippings and sand 
dusting.  The path between points A-C-D would be enclosed by a wooden 
railed fence as the landowner wished in future to restore and improve the 
land for agricultural purposes.  The proposed diversion would take users 
away from the private driveway, the out buildings and the farmhouse, 
therefore increasing the privacy and security of the property.

The Committee considered the application and noted the comments 
received from the Open Spaces Society, North and Mid Cheshire 
Ramblers and the Peak and Northern Footpath Society along with the 
Public Rights of Way Officer’s responses.

The Committee considered that the proposed route would not be 
substantially less convenient than the existing route.  Diverting the 
footpath would be in the interest of the applicant as it would allow better 
privacy and security of the property.  It was considered that the proposed 
route would be a satisfactory alternative to the current one and that the 
legal tests for the making and confirming of a Diversion Order were 
satisfied.

The Committee unanimously

Page 5



RESOLVED:  That

1 An Order be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, as 
amended by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to divert part of 
Public Footpath No.45 in the parish of Mobberley by creating a new 
section of Public Footpath and extinguishing the current path, as 
illustrated on Plan No.HA/146, on the grounds that it is expedient in 
the interests of the landowner.

2 Public Notice of the making of the Order be given and in the event 
of there being no objections within the period specified, the Order 
be confirmed in the exercise of the powers conferred on the Council 
by the said Acts.

3 In the event of objections to the Order being received, Cheshire 
East Council be responsible for the conduct of any hearing or public 
inquiry.

30 HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 SECTION 119: PROPOSED DIVERSION OF 
PUBLIC FOOTPATH NO.34 AND NO.35 (PARTS) IN THE PARISH OF 
MACCLESFIELD FOREST. 

The Committee considered a report which detailed an application from 
Mr Hurley of Whitehills Farm, Macclesfield Forest, requesting the Council 
to make an Order under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 to divert 
parts of Public Footpath No.34 and No.35 in the parish of Macclesfield 
Forest. The application was made on the grounds of privacy, security of 
the farm and improved management of the land.  

In accordance with Section 119(1) of the Highways Act 1980, it was within 
the Council’s discretion to make an Order to divert a public footpath if it 
appeared to the Council to be expedient to do so in the interests of the 
public or the owner, lessee or occupier of the land crossed by the path.

The current line of the section of Public Footpath No.34 to be diverted 
passed within very close proximity to a residential property and through 
the middle of Whitehills farmyard and animal holding areas.  Where the 
path passed through the farmyard there was an obstruction caused by a 
wall forming part of an animal holding area and an agricultural structure 
installed prior to legislation requiring planning permission.  To avoid the 
obstruction walkers were able to use a permissive path that ran to the east 
of the farm.

The current line of the section of Public Footpath No. 35 to be diverted ran 
through an old barn erected sometime in the past, close to residential 
dwellings and through Whitehills farmyard.  A short permissive path was in 
place for the section obstructed by the barn which had a number of gates 
and stiles to negotiate and took walkers within close proximity to the 
residential dwellings and the working areas of the farm.

Page 6



The proposed diversions of Public Footpaths No.34 and No.35, as shown 
on Plan No.HA/145, would take the existing paths away from the 
residential properties and the working farm environment, through a safer 
more scenic route and would reduce the risks associated with walking 
through a working farm.  The proposed diversions would offer improved 
views of the surrounding countryside.  

The Committee noted the comments made by the Peak and Northern 
Footpath Society and the Public Rights of Way Officer’s response.

The Committee considered that the proposed routes would not be 
sustainably less convenient than the existing routes.  Diverting the 
footpaths would be in the interest of the applicant as it would improve the 
privacy and security of the dwellings and improve land management. It 
was considered that the proposed routes would be satisfactory alternatives 
to the current ones and that the legal tests for the making and confirming 
of a Diversion Order were satisfied.

The Committee unanimously

RESOLVED:  That

1 An Order be made under Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980, as 
amended by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to divert part of 
Public Footpath No.34 and part of Public Footpath No.35 in the 
parish of Macclesfield Forest by creating new sections of Public 
Footpath and extinguishing parts of the current paths, as illustrated 
on Plan No.HA/145, on the grounds that it is expedient in the 
interests of the landowner.

2 Public Notice of the making of the Order be given and in the event 
of there being no objections within the period specified, the Order 
be confirmed in the exercise of the powers conferred on the Council 
by the said Acts.

3 In the event of objections to the Order being received, Cheshire 
East Borough Council be responsible for the conduct of any hearing 
or public inquiry.

31 PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY PROPOSED FEES AND CHARGES 2020-21 

The Committee received a report which detailed the proposed fees and 
charges for 2020-21 for charged-for services provided by the Public Rights 
of Way team.
 
The annual review of fees and charges had been conducted as part of the 
budget setting process of the Council.  The charges for 2020-21 had been 
increased by inflation, rounded and also take into account revised 
corporate recharge rates.  In addition, the fees and charges had been 
amended to reflect revised assessments of costs incurred. 

Page 7



 
AGREED:

That the report be noted.

32 WILDLIFE & COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981- PART III, SECTION 53: 
APPEAL DECISION FOR APPLICATION NO. CO/8/34: CLAIMED 
FOOTPATH FROM BYLEY LANE TO CARVER AVENUE, PARISH OF 
CRANAGE 

The Committee received an information report on the outcome of an 
appeal against the decision not make a Definitive Map Modification Order.

Cranage Parish Council had appealed the decision of the Public Rights of 
Way Committee in December 2018 to refuse an application to add a public 
footpath between Carver Avenue and Byley Lane in Cranage, route A-B-
C-D as shown on Plan No.WCA/016.    Following further submissions of 
comments by all affected parties, the Secretary of State for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs had issued a letter directing the Council to make an 
Order.  Consequently the Council had made an Order to add the Footpath 
to the Definitive Map and Statement as directed.

AGREED:

That the Report be noted.

The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 2.43 pm

Councillor B Puddicombe (Vice-Chair, in the Chair)

Page 8



OFFICIAL

Public Rights of Way Committee

Date of Meeting:  09 March 2020

Report Title: Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 – Part III, Section 53:Application 
no. CO/8/52: Application for the Addition of a Public Right of 
Way along a route known as Manor Drive between Nantwich 
Road (A530) and Kerridge Close, Parish of Middlewich

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place

1. Report Summary

1.1. The report outlines the investigation of an application made by Mr John 
Bayley on behalf of The Middlewich Public Rights of Way Group to amend 
the Definitive Map and Statement by adding a public right of way along a 
route known as Manor Drive, between Nantwich Road (A530) and Kerridge 
Close, in the parish of Middlewich.  The report includes a discussion of the 
consultations carried out in respect of the application, the historical 
evidence, witness evidence and the legal tests for a Definitive Map 
Modification Order (DMMO) to be made.  The report makes a 
recommendation based on that information, for quasi-judicial decision by 
Members as to whether an Order should be made to add the route to the 
Definitive Map.

1.2. The proposal contributes to the Corporate Plan Outcomes 4 “Cheshire East 
is a green and sustainable place” and 5 “People live well and for longer”, 
and the policies and objectives of the Council’s statutory Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan.

2. Recommendations

2.1. An Order be made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 to modify the Definitive Map and Statement by adding as 
Restricted Byways the routes shown between points A-B-C and B-D on 
plan number WCA/021.

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



OFFICIAL

2.2. Public notice of the making of the Order be given and, in the event of there 
being no objections within the specified period, or any objections received 
being withdrawn, the Order be confirmed in exercise of the power conferred 
on the Council by the said Acts.

2.3. In the event of objections to the Order being received, Cheshire East 
Borough Council be responsible for the conduct of any hearing or public 
inquiry.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The evidence in support of this claim must show, on the balance of 
probabilities, that public rights subsist along the claimed routes.  It is 
considered that there is sufficient user evidence to support the existence of 
public restricted byway rights along the routes A-B-C and B-D on plan no. 
WCA/021.  It is considered that the requirements of Section 53(3)(c)(i) have 
been met in relation to restricted byway rights and it is recommended that 
the Definitive Map and Statement should be modified to show the routes as 
Restricted Byways.  

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not Applicable – this is a non-executive matter. 

5. Background

5.1. Introduction

5.1.1 The application was made by Mr Bayley, on behalf of The Middlewich     
Public Rights of Way Group, on 22nd November  2017.  The application was 
registered and assessed under the Council’s adopted policy for prioritising 
such applications, known as the DMMO Statement of Priorities.  The 
application was for the addition of a bridleway along a route known as 
Manor Drive, in the parish of Middlewich.  The application is based on user 
evidence. 10 user evidence forms were submitted with the application; 2 
further forms have since been submitted. Although the application stated it 
was for the addition of a bridleway, Officers consider that the evidence 
suggests the status should be that of Restricted Byway; the reason for this 
is explained in section 5.3 below.  

5.1.2  The application form describes the route ‘from the corner of the rear garden 
of 5 Buckley Close Middlewich down Manor Drive through to Nantwich 
Road (A530) passing Manor Lodge’. This is the route between points B and 
A on plan no. WCA/021.  It is believed the applicant did not include the 
section from point B through to Kerridge Close, point C, as this land is 

Page 10



OFFICIAL

mainly owned by Cheshire East Council and public use of that section has 
not been disputed.  However,  for the purpose of investigating the claimed 
public rights, the full length of the route has been considered.  This is 
because the witnesses stated they used the full length of the route; and 
also if the route were to be added to the Definitive Map it would need to link 
to a recorded public highway.  Therefore the full, currently unrecorded, 
length of the route from Nantwich Road to Kerridge Close has been 
considered,  as shown between points A-B-C on plan no. WCA/021.

5.1.3  During the invesigation it has come to light that the route from Buckley 
Close to Manor Drive (between points B and D on plan no. WCA/021) is not 
recorded on the Definitive Map.  This is land in the ownership of Cheshire 
East Council.  A small section of this route is recorded as an adopted 
footway, this is approximately the first 17 metres from Buckley Close, the 
adopted footway then continues in a southerly direction to link with Brynlow 
Drive.  Therefore this route, between points B and D, has also been 
considered as part of the application as some witnesses stated they also 
used this route. 

5.1.4 The reason for the application was an article, that was printed in the 
Middlewich Guardian newspaper dated 24th August 2017, that stated the 
owners of a property on Nantwich Road planned “to gate the driveway to 
stop residents from using it as a thoroughfare into Middlewich or on to the 
canal”.  The article was reporting on the problem of HGVs using Nantwich 
Road (A530) and being unaware of the low headroom at the aqueduct.  
Despite signage being in place warning of the low headroom, it was 
claimed this was not clear enough.  This, it was reported, was causing 
problems as the HGVs then block the road as they attempt to turn around.  
The property owners stated they were aware of the problem before they 
moved in, but now substantial damage was being caused and their only 
option was to narrow the frontage to their house to deter HGV movements.  
Local residents saw this article in the newspaper and were concerned they 
would be prevented from using Manor Drive.  Consequently this lead to the 
application to record the route as a public bridleway being submitted.

5.1.5  In December 2018 the Applicant sought a direction from the Secretary of 
State for a decision to be made on the application as it was still awaiting 
investigation.  A direction decision dated 31st January 2019 was received 
from an Inspector representing the Secretary of State.  The decision, 
pursuant to paragraph 3(2) of Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981, directed the Council to determine the application no later than 12 
months from the date of the direction. 

Page 11



OFFICIAL

5.1.6  In August 2019 the owners of Manor Lodge built a wall, four pillars and a 
raised kerbed grass verge on unregistered land to the front of their 
property, immediately adjacent to Nantwich Road (point A on plan no. 
WCA/021). This is on the claimed public right of way. The owners have 
since applied for retrospective planning permission for change of use of the 
land to allow them to encompass the land within their residential curtilage.  
The planning application has yet to be decided; the reference number is 
19/4060N.            

5.2. Description of the Investigated Route

5.2.1 The investigated route begins at point A (on plan no. WCA/021) on Nantwich 
Road (A530) and follows a generally southerly direction to Kerridge Close 
at point C.  The route is mostly enclosed between boundaries. The section 
at the start and adjacent to Manor Lodge has a stone surface, further along 
around point B the surface is earth. The section nearer to point C at the 
Kerridge Close end has a sealed tarmac surface.  There are retractable 
bollards at points B and C to prevent vehicle access.  It is believed these 
were installed by Congleton Borough Council in the 1990s.

5.2.2 The route from Manor Drive to Buckley Close between points B-D has an 
approximate varying width of between 2.5 and 3.5 metres, it is narrower 
than Manor Drive and has a sealed tarmac surface.  It is bounded on one 
side by a wall, which forms the adjacent property boundary.    

5.3. The Main Issues

5.3.1  Section 53(2)(b) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 requires that the 
Cheshire East Borough Council shall keep the Definitive Map and 
Statement under continuous review and make such modifications to the 
Map and Statement as appear requisite in consequence of the occurrence 
of certain events.

5.3.2 The event relevant to this application is section 53(3)(c)(i), this requires 
modification of the map by the addition of a right of way.  The relevant 
section is quoted below: 

“(c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with 
all other relevant evidence available to them) shows:-

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists 
or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map 
relates...;

Page 12



OFFICIAL

5.3.3 The evidence can consist of documentary/historical evidence or user 
evidence or a mixture of both.  All the evidence must be evaluated and 
weighed and a conclusion reached whether, on the ‘balance of probabilities’ 
the alleged rights subsist.  Any other issues, such as safety, security, 
suitability, desirability or the effects on property or the environment, are not 
relevant to the decision.

 
5.3.4 Where the evidence in support of the application is user evidence, section 

31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 applies, this states;-

“Where a way……has been actually enjoyed by the public as of right and 
without interruption for a full period of twenty years, the way is deemed to 
have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that 
there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.”

This requires that the public must have used the way without interruption 
and as of right; that is without force, secrecy or permission.  Section 31(2) 
states that “the 20 years is to be calculated retrospectively from the date 
when the right of the public to use the way is brought into question”.

5.3.5  In the case of Godmanchester Town Council, R (on the application of) v 
Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (2007), the 
House of Lords considered the proviso in section 31(1) of the Highways Act 
1980:

“…unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that 
period to dedicate it”.  

The proviso means that presumed dedication of a way can be rebutted if 
there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention to dedicate the way, 
during the relevant twenty year period.  What is regarded as ‘sufficient 
evidence’ will vary from case to case.  The Lords addressed the issue of 
whether the “intention” in section 31(1) had to be communicated to those 
using the way, at the time of use, or whether an intention held by the 
landowner but not revealed to anybody could constitute “sufficient 
evidence”.  The Lords also considered whether use of the phrase “during 
that period” in the proviso, meant during the whole of that period.  The 
House of Lords held that a landowner had to communicate his intention to 
the public in some way to satisfy the requirement of the proviso.  It was also 
held that the lack of intention to dedicate means “at some point during that 
period”, it does not have to be continuously demonstrated throughout the 
whole twenty year period. 

Page 13



OFFICIAL

5.3.6  For public rights to have come into being through long use, as stated above, 
a twenty year period must be identified during which time use can be 
established.  Where no challenge to the use has occurred, this period can 
be taken as the twenty years immediately prior to the date of the 
application.  In this case that would be 1997 to 2017. The newspaper 
article, referred to above in paragraph 5.1.4, shows an intention to 
challenge the public use, that was dated 2017.  The current owners of 
Manor Lodge moved into the property in 2016, although some witnesses 
stated they have heard of others who have been stopped/challenged, none 
had been personally challenged themselves when using the route on 
foot/cycle.  There was some evidence of challenges however; this was 
when vehicles were attempting to use the route for access, so it was not a 
challenge to the public use but rather their private access.  Therefore, the 
twenty year period to be considered could be 1996-2016, if the current 
owners of Manor Lodge had challenged anyone from when they moved to 
the property, otherwise it would be 1997-2017.  For the route B-D on plan 
no. WCA/021, no challenge has taken place so the 20 year period to be 
considered for that route is 1997-2017.  

5.3.7  In this case there is evidence of use on pedal cycle but no evidence of 
equestrian use.  The status applied for was that of bridleway; however, 
Officers have considered the relevant legislation, guidance and a similar 
case decided by The Planning Inspectorate; and believe that the routes 
should be recorded as Restricted Byways. 

5.3.8  The Planning Inspectorate guidelines state, “Section 31, Highways Act 
1980, as amended by section 68 of Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities Act (NERC) 2006, provides that use of a way by non-
mechanically propelled vehicles (such as a pedal cycle) can give rise to a 
restricted byway.

5.3.9  The case of Whitworth v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs (2010) is often quoted where there is evidence of use on 
horseback and pedal cycle.  Section 30 of the Countryside Act 1968 gave 
pedal cyclists the right to ride on a bridleway; therefore any use from 1968 
onwards is said to be “by right”. In Whitworth the route was found to have 
pre-existing bridleway status, i.e. it was decided the status was a bridleway 
prior to 1968. It was suggested that subsequent use by cyclists of an 
accepted, but unrecorded, bridleway, where use of the bridleway would 
have been permitted by virtue of section 30 of the Countryside Act 1968, 
could not give rise to anything other than a bridleway.    

5.3.10 The judge in the Whitworth case, Carnwath LJ, went on to discuss what the 
outcome would have been had there been no pre-existing bridleway status.  

Page 14



OFFICIAL

His view is predicted on user evidence dominated by equestrians, a ratio of 
8 equestrians to 2 cyclists (8 v 2). He accepted that regular use by horse 
riders and cyclists might be consistent with dedication as a restricted 
byway, it was also consistent with dedication as a bridleway. In such an 
instance of statutory interference with private property rights, he 
determined, it was reasonable to infer the dedication “least burdensome to 
the owner”. 

5.3.11  In these circumstances Carnwath LJ could equally have decided bridleway 
or restricted byway status, but opted for bridleway as equestrian was the 
dominant user evidence and he did not want to inflict a more burdensome 
way on the landowner.

5.3.12  When determining whether the status should be bridleway or restricted 
byway, consideration needs to be given to the dominant user between 
cyclists and equestrians. In this case, the predominant users are cyclists, 
as there are no equestrians at all; this distinguishes the current application 
from the Whitworth case. A more comparable case to the current 
application is a decision of the Planning Inspectorate dated 6th April 2017; 
this concerned a Definitive Map Modification Order made by East Riding 
of Yorkshire Council. The Order was for the addition of a Restricted 
Byway. In that case no pre-existing bridleway status was found, the Order 
route was created as a private road; however, from the 1950s there was 
evidence of use by the public. The dominant user was pedal cyclists (19 
claimed use with a cycle and 3 on horseback). The Inspector determined 
that the facts were different to the facts in Whitworth; that the evidence of 
use by cyclists supports the establishment of a restricted byway and 
concluded that there is no basis from which a less burdensome bridleway 
can be inferred. 

5.3.13 It is Officers’ opinion with the present case, that where the predominant 
user is cyclist (as in the East Riding case above) it is appropriate to record 
the status as a restricted byway. Unlike the Whitworth case there is no 
need to be cautious and record the least burdensome way for the 
landowner; there is clear dominance by cyclists in this case, with no 
equestrian use, therefore the appropriate status is that of restricted 
byway. 

5.4. Investigation of the Claim 

5.4.1   An investigation of the evidence submitted with the application (CO/8/52) 
has been undertaken, together with some additional research.  The 
application was made on the basis of user evidence from ten witnesses; 
two further forms have since been received, one of whom was 

Page 15



OFFICIAL

subsequently interviewed and made a statement.  In addition to the user 
evidence submitted an investigation of any available historical 
documentation was also undertaken to establish whether the claimed route 
had an historical origin. The documentary evidence that has been 
examined is referred to below and a list of all the evidence taken into 
consideration can be found in Appendix 3.  

5.5. Documentary Evidence

5.5.1 There was no documentary evidence submitted with the application.  It is 
clear from viewing historical Ordnance Survey maps that the route was 
historically used as the access to Manor Hall, or ‘Manor House’ as it is 
named on some maps.  The route appears to have been gated at the 
Manor Lodge in the past.  The Hall itself was built between 1800-1830 and 
is a grade II listed building; it is believed to have been a private residential 
house until it became a residential care home for the elderly in 2011.  The 
housing estate to the south of the claimed route, Manor Park, was built in 
the late 1960s/early 1970s; the houses to the east, that back onto the route 
were built in the 1980s. It is most likely that the route was used as private 
access only until the area changed considerably with the construction of the 
residential developments.  Therefore limited historical research has been 
completed as it is clear that if public rights have come into being this would 
have been through evidence of use of the route. The documents that have 
been considered are listed in Appendix 3.

Middlewich & Newton Tithe Map c1848

5.5.2 Tithe maps and the written document which accompanied them, (the 
apportionment) were produced between 1837 and the early 1850s in 
response to the Tithe Commutation Act 1836, to show which landowner 
owned which pieces of land and as a result how much they owed in 
monetary terms.  

5.5.3   A map was produced by the Tithe Commissioners which showed parcels of 
land with unique reference numbers, and these were referred to in the 
apportionment document, which contained details of the land including its 
ownership, occupation and use.  Public roads which generated no titheable 
produce were not given a tithe number.  Some private roads, due to use 
could be equally not liable to a tithe.  However, public and private roads 
could be subject to a tithe, if for instance, they produced a crop – grazing or 
hay cut from the verges.  The Map and Apportionment must be considered 
together.  Roads were listed at the end of the apportionment; there was 
often a separate list for private roads.  Tithe maps and apportionments 
were not prepared for the purpose of distinguishing between public and 
private rights; they were intended to apportion a monetary rent in lieu of 

Page 16



OFFICIAL

tithe payments in kind.  Tithe maps provide good topographical evidence 
that a route physically existed and can be used to interpret other 
contemporary documents.  If a route is not marked on a tithe map that does 
not mean it is not a public right of way.

5.5.4  In this case a route is shown for the full length of the claimed route between 
points A-C, on plan no. WCA/021.  It is shown coloured the same as the 
other highways and does not show a line across the route, which may 
indicate that it was not gated at the time. The alignment is shown as 
bearing more southerly rather than south south westerly. No tithe number is 
given to the route and therefore no landowner is listed in the 
apportionment.  However as stated above this does not necessarily mean it 
was public, just that the route generated no titheable produce.

Ordnance Survey Maps

5.5.5   Ordnance Survey mapping was originally for military purposes to record all 
roads and tracks that could be used in times of war.  This included both 
public and private routes.  These maps are good evidence of the physical 
existence of routes, but not necessarily of status.  Since 1889 the 
Ordnance Survey has included a disclaimer on all of its maps to the effect 
that the depiction of a road or way is not evidence of the existence of a right 
of way.  It can be presumed that this caveat applies to earlier maps also. 
These documents must therefore be read alongside the other evidence.

O.S. 1 inch to 1 mile Revised New Series 1897

5.5.6 On this edition the full length of the claimed route is shown between solid 
boundaries from Nantwich Road before continuing further south as double 
dashed lines to ‘Newton Manor’. There is no building shown where the 
Manor Lodge is now and there appears to be no line across the route, 
which may indicate that it was not gated at the time. 

O.S 2nd Edition County Series 1897 – 25 inch

5.5.7  On this edition of the map, Manor Drive between points A and C on plan no. 
WCA/021 is shown as a route with solid line boundaries each side. There 
does appear to be a line across the route near to the Manor Lodge, 
indicating there were gates at that time.  An unnamed building is shown 
where Manor Lodge is now. Further south the route continues as double 
dashed lines with trees lined on both sides all the way to the entrance to 
‘Newton Manor’ as it is named on this edition.

Page 17



OFFICIAL

O.S. 3rd Edition County Series 1909- 25 inch

5.5.8  On this edition the route is depicted in the same way as the previous map. 
Manor Lodge is named as ‘Lodge’ and again there is a line across the route 
near to the Lodge, indicating that it was gated.  The Hall is referred to as 
‘Manor House’ on this edition.

Ordnance Survey Six-inch 2nd and 3rd Editions 

5.5.9  These two editions depict the claimed route in the same way as the 25 inch 
versions.

Ordnance Survey Six-inch Sheet XLI.SE 1938

5.5.10 This edition depicts the claimed route and names the buildings in the same 
way as the 3rd Edition 25 inch map.

Photographs c.1910-15 and c1974

5.5.11  A photograph of what appears to be a painting of Manor Lodge, possibly 
around the period 1910-15, shows that the route was gated at that time.  
A photograph from around 1974 shows the original gates posts in place 
but no gates. 

National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949

5.5.12  The Definitive Map and Statement is based on surveys and plans carried 
out in the early 1950s by each parish in Cheshire of all the ways they 
considered to be public at that time.  The surveys were used as the basis 
for the Draft Definitive Map.  Middlewich Urban District Council completed 
the survey for this area at the time and did not claim the route in question 
as a right of way; the route was subsequently omitted from the published 
Definitive Map. 

Housing Estate Adoption Plans 

5.5.13 The adoption plan for the Manor Park estate, which includes Kerridge 
Close, has the building contractor ‘McLean’ stated in the top right hand 
corner and is dated March 1978. The extent of Kerridge Close is shown 
and then at the head of the cul-de-sac, on the edge of the plan, is an 
annotation stating ‘existing private road to Nantwich Road’.  The extent of 
the claimed route is not shown on this plan.

5.5.14 The Norbury Drive adoption plan shows the extent of Buckley Close and 
other roads in the immediate area coloured pink.  The adopted footway 
extending from Buckley Close (point D on plan no. WCA/021) is shown 
pink; this however does not continue to point B but turns in a southerly 

Page 18



OFFICIAL

direction to join Brynlow Drive.  This plan is undated, but it is thought to be 
from around the late 1980s.  

Land Registry Information

5.5.15 The area of land at the northern end of the claimed route, from Nantwich 
Road (point A on plan no. WCA/021) to where the original gate posts were 
on Manor Drive, adjacent to the Manor Lodge building, is unregistered 
land.  This is the area of land that is the subject of the current planning 
permission application by the owners of Manor Lodge. From a point 
adjacent to Manor Lodge southerly to point B on plan no. WCA/021, the 
land is owned by Jones Homes (North West) Limited. The land between 
point B and C; and between points B and D is owned by Cheshire East 
Council, apart from one very small section approximately 2-3 metres at 
point C, which remains registered to the original developer McLean 
Homes.  McLean Homes were taken over by Taylor Wimpey, Officers 
have consulted Taylor Wimpey Homes but have had no response.  

5.6. Witness Evidence 

5.6.1  The application was made in 2017 and contained 10 user evidence forms.  
Two of the forms contained evidence from two witnesses on the same form, 
who lived at the same address (e.g. husband/wife); therefore, there was 
evidence from 12 witnesses.  A further three forms were submitted in 2019, 
giving a total of 15 witnesses.  

5.6.2  All 15 witnesses have used the routes on foot; in addition to using it on foot, 
nine witnesses have also used the routes on a bicycle.  The witnesses 
were contacted with a view to being interviewed; subsequently eight 
witnesses were interviewed, seven in person and one by telephone 
interview.  Statements have been signed by the eight witnesses who were 
interviewed, the statements are a summary of their evidence as set out 
during their interview.  A chart illustrating the user evidence from all 15 
witnesses is attached as Appendix 1. A separate chart illustrating the use 
on a bicycle is attached as Appendix 2. 

5.6.3  For public rights to have come into being through long use, a twenty year 
period must be identified during which time use can be established. Where 
no challenge to the use has occurred, this period can be taken as the 20 
years immediately prior to the date of the application. In this case for the 
route B-D (on plan no. WCA/021) that would be 1997 to 2017. Although 
none of the witnesses state they were stopped or challenged when using 
the route A-B-C (on plan no. WCA/021) on foot/cycle; a few did say they 
had heard of others that had been stopped. The newspaper article referred 
to above in paragraph 5.1.4, shows an intention to prevent use by the 

Page 19



OFFICIAL

public.  The current owners of Manor Lodge purchased the property in 
2016; therefore it would seem challenges may have occurred from that 
time.  Therefore the twenty year period to be considered for the route A-B-
C (on plan no. WCA/021) is 1996-2016.

5.6.4  Use of the route has been largely for functional purposes, but it has also 
been used for leisure/dog walking. It forms a link between the housing 
estate and Nantwich Road and onwards to the town for shopping; visiting 
the doctors; the pub; the cemetery and other services offered by the town 
centre in Middlewich.  Some witnesses also used it to gain access onto the 
canal; some said that school children use it. Witnesses stated that they use 
this route because an alternative route from the estate into town is not safe. 
That route is from the western extent of Brynlow Drive along the Nantwich 
Road (A530), which has no pavement. 

5.6.5  The route was used frequently; weekly and for some people nearly daily. 
Some witnesses have used the route on a pedal cycle weekly, monthly or 
occasionally. One witness walked and cycled the route from her childhood 
in the 1970s and then since moving closer to the route in 1999 has used 
the route on a weekly basis to visit relatives and also for dog walking. 
Another witness who moved to the area in 1986 used the route on a daily 
basis from that time for dog walking and going into town until 2012, he then 
continued to use it 2-3 times a week.  He also used it on a bicycle up to 2-3 
times a week at one time.

5.6.6  Of the witnesses represented in the bar chart in Appendix 1, 9 have used 
the route for the full 20 years required under s.31 (6) of the Highways Act, 
as set out in paragraph 5.3.4. Of the remaining six witnesses, one has used 
the route for 17/18 of the 20 years and another for 11/12 years. The earliest 
use stems from 1970 and continues to the present day. 

5.6.7 Of the 15 witnesses, 9 have used the route on a bicycle, of these 9 
witnesses 4 have used the route for the full 20 years, and one other witness 
for 17/18 of the 20 years.  

5.6.8   None of the witnesses had ever been challenged or prevented from using 
the route on foot or bicycle.  They have never seen signs or barriers to 
suggest that the route was not open to public use.

5.7. Conclusion

5.7.1  The user evidence submitted demonstrates regular, continuous and long 
term use of the claimed route on foot and bicycle. The documentary 
evidence shows that the route of Manor Drive has been in existence for 
over a hundred years, most likely since the Manor Hall was built.  It is 

Page 20



OFFICIAL

Officers’ opinion that the conclusion of the historical documents is that the 
route A-B-C (on plan no. WCA/021) was historically used as private access 
to the Hall.  The nature and purpose of the use of the route then changed 
with the development of the area from the 1970s onwards.    

5.7.2  Under section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 public rights can come into 
existence by prescription unless there is evidence to the contrary. The user 
evidence shows that use, on both foot and bicycle, has been uninterrupted 
for a full twenty year period between 1996 and 2016 in the case of route A-
B-C on plan no. WCA/021, without challenge, permission or secrecy; and in 
the case of the route B-D on the same plan between 1997 and 2017.

5.7.3 The evidence in support of this application must show, on the balance of  
probabilities, that restricted byway rights subsist or are reasonably alleged 
to subsist, along the claimed route.  The balance of user evidence supports 
the case that there is a reasonable allegation that a restricted byway 
subsists along the routes A-B-C and B-D (Plan No. WCA/021).  Therefore it 
is considered that the requirements of Section 53(3)(c)(i) have been met 
and it is recommended that a Definitive Map Modification Order is made to 
add the two restricted byways in the Parish of Middlewich and thus amend 
the Definitive Map and Statement.  

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. Under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (WCA), the 
Council has a duty, as surveying authority, to keep the Definitive Map 
and Statement under continuous review. Section 53 (3) (c) allows for an 
authority to act on the discovery of evidence that suggests that the 
Definitive Map needs to be amended.  The authority must investigate and 
determine that evidence and decide on the outcome whether to make a 
Definitive Map Modification Order or not. 

6.1.2. Upon determination of this application, the authority must serve notice 
on the applicant to inform them of the decision.  Under Schedule 14 of 
the WCA, if the authority decides not to make an order, the applicant 
may, at any time within 28 days after service of the notice, appeal against 
the decision to the Secretary of State.  The Secretary of State will then 
consider the application to determine whether an order should be made 
and may give the authority directions in relation to the same.

6.1.3. The legal implications are contained within the report.

Page 21



OFFICIAL

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. If the determination of the case leads to a subsequent hearing/inquiry, 
the Council would be responsible for any costs involved in the 
preparation and conducting of such. 

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no direct policy implications.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. The legal tests under s.53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 do 
not include an assessment of the effects under the Equality Act 2010. 

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no direct implications for human resources.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no direct implications for risk management.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1 The Council has committed to becoming carbon neutral by 2025 and to 
encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire East to 
reduce their carbon footprint. 

6.10.2 The addition of a restricted byway to the Definitive Map represents the 
formal recognition of pedestrian/equestrian/cycle rights, creating more 
opportunities for travel/leisure on foot/horseback/cycle and potentially 
reducing the use of cars for short local journeys and therefore energy 
consumption.  It also has the potential for the improvement/promotion of 
healthy lifestyles.

Page 22



OFFICIAL

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. The Ward Members for Middlewich, Councillor Bulman; Councillor Hunter 
and Councillor Parry have been consulted on the application, no comments 
have been received. 

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. Consultation letters including a map showing the route A-B-C (on plan no. 
WCA/021) were sent to the Ward Members; Middlewich Town Council; 
User Groups/Organisations; statutory undertakers and the landowners in 
October 2019. Further letters/emails were sent to all consultees to inform 
them of the additional route being considered, route B-D (on plan no. 
WCA/021), and further comments were invited.  

8.2. Middlewich Town Council have responded and state “the Town Council has 
considered this matter and the Council supports the retention of the public 
right of way”.  

8.3. Cheshire East Council Assets Management Service have been consulted 
as Cheshire East Council own part of the affected land between points B-C 
and B-D. The Service responded and stated they have no comments to 
make.

8.4. Jones Homes (North West) Limited own part of the claimed bridleway, from 
a point adjacent to Manor Lodge southerly to point B on plan no. WCA/021, 
they have not responded to correspondence.

8.5. The owners of Manor Lodge, although they do not own the affected land, 
are immediately adjacent to it and have recently applied to incorporate part 
of the claimed route within their curtilage.  They were notified of the 
application in 2017 and have also been consulted in October 2019.  On 30th 
November 2017 Officers received an email from the owners of Manor 
Lodge acknowledging that they had received notification of the application.  
The email stated they would be objecting to the application and asked 
about the procedure for objecting.  Officers responded and included 
information on the Definitive Map Modification Order process.  

8.6. Following the consultation letter the owners of Manor Lodge made contact 
and Officers met with them on site on 9th October 2019.  Once again details 
of the application process were discussed.  Officers viewed the wall and 
pillars that had been built on the claimed route. The owners of Manor 
Lodge explained the problems they had with the drivers of HGVs, when 
they realise they are unable to continue along Nantwich Road (A530) 
because of the low aqueduct, they then attempt to turn around. This has 
caused damage to their property in the past and has now led to them 

Page 23



OFFICIAL

building the wall/pillars to prevent HGVs from turning there.  They did 
acknowledge to Officers that they realise that people use the path and they 
did not wish to stop them; for that reason, they have left a gap to the side of 
one of the pillars.  Officers measured the gap between the wall and the 
pillar, which was 88cm.  Following the meeting, no further comments have 
been received from the owners of Manor Lodge. The gap of 88cm would be 
insufficient for a right of way; if an Order is made to add the route to the 
Definitive Map, the recorded width would include the full width between the 
boundaries as that is what the public have customarily used. That would be 
between approximately 4.5m and 6m.       

8.7. United Utilities state there are water mains in close proximity.  However 
they are located outside of the boundary of the claimed right of way and as 
no works distrurbing the surface would be required as a result of any Order, 
it is believed that the apparatus would not be affected.

8.8. Cadent/National Grid have responded and state they have no objection.

8.9. A resident of Nantwich Road, Middlewich has submitted comments.  He 
states he has lived on Nantwich Road for over 30 years, he considers the 
potential closure of Manor Drive a great loss.  He states he and his late 
father used the route when visiting each other, and he has also used it for 
many years to visit a cousin who lived locally.  He uses it currently to visit 
friends and states it is not feasible to go along the A530 or along the canal 
for safety reasons.  He comments on the issue of HGVs reversing back 
along Nantwich Road when they miss the warning signs for the low bridge; 
he states he too has had the inconvenience of this and his gate pillars (and 
those of his neighbours) have been damaged by vehicles trying to turn 
around.  He states Manor Lodge is not a special case as many other local 
residents have similar problems.  He comments that the owners of Manor 
Lodge have no right to block off Manor Drive, it has been a right of way as 
long as he can remember; he is 83 years old.         

9. Access to Information

9.1. The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by 
contacting the report writer below.

Page 24



OFFICIAL

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Jennifer Miller

Job Title: Definitive Map Officer

Email: Jennifer.miller@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 25

mailto:Jennifer.miller@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Aqueduct

Tow Path

27.4m

32.0m

DRIVE
KERRIDGE

CL
OS

E

Watersmeet

OV
ER

TO
N

BU
CK

LE
Y

Manor Lodge

NORBURY

11

2

8

5

1

3

16

15

27

4
6

20

14

12

105

76

10

12
3

124

37

136

17

21

1

15
1

14

CL
OS

E

16

1

2

5

1

11

5

6

12

Middlewich FP26
Middlewich FP8

369800

369800

36
56

00

36
56

00

36
58

00

36
58

00

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100049045.
±

1:1,250

This is a working copy of the definitive map
and should not be used for legal purposes

 Key
Footpath
Bridleway
Restricted Byway
BOAT

Restricted Byway to be added 

Application no.CO/8/52
Addition of a Public Right of Way from Nantwich Rd (A530) 
to Kerridge Close and from Manor Drive to Buckley Close

A

B

C

D

Plan no. WCA/021

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1970 1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

15

14

13

12

11

10

9

8

7

6

6

5

5

4

4

3

2

1

Years used 

W
it

n
e

ss
e

s 
User Evidence Chart - Forms Appendix 1 

1996 2016 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1975 1980 1985 1990 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020

15

14

13

12

11

10

8

6

5

Years used 

W
it

n
e

ss
e

s 
User Evidence - Bicycle use Appendix 2 

1996 2016 

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 3  

DMMO DOCUMENTARY RESEARCH CHECKLIST 

 

District: Congleton   Parish: Middlewich Application: CO/8/52 

Document  Date  Reference  Notes  

Tithe Records  

Apportionment  1845 

 

CRO 
EDT/123/1  

Township: 
Middlewich & 
Newton 

No Plot number 

Map  

 

1845  

 

 

CRO 
EDT/123/2 

Township: 
Middlewich & 
Newton 

 

 

Route shown the same as other 
highways 

Ordnance Survey  

 

1” to 1 mile  

Revised New 
Series sheet 110 

 

25” County Series 

1
st 

Edition  

 

25” 2
nd 

Edition 25”  

 

 

c.1897 

 

 

c.1875 

 

 

1897 

 

 

PROW Office  

 

 

CRO 

PROW Office 

 

 

 

 
 
Route shown 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Route shown 

 

 

Route shown,  

 

Page 33



 

3
rd 

Edition 25”  

 

6” Ordnance 
Survey 1st, 2nd , 3rd 
Editions 

  

 

c.1909 

 

c.1872-5 
c.1899 
c.1910 

 

 
 

 

Route shown 

 

 

Route shown 

 

 

Local Authority Records  

Pre-Definitive Map 
“Green Book” 
record 

Early 
1950s 

PROW No reference to the claimed route. 

Walking Survey – 
Middlewich 

1952  PROW   No reference to the claimed route. 

Draft Definitive Map  1953 PROW  Route not shown. 

Provisional 
Definitive Map  

1968 

 

PROW  

 

Route not shown. 

Definitive Map  1971 PROW  Route not shown. 

 

 

Page 34



OFFICIAL

Public Rights of Way Committee

Date of Meeting: 09 March 2020

Report Title: Town and Country Planning Act 1990 s 257 Application for the 
Extinguishment of Public Footpath No. 20, Parish of Congleton

Senior Officer:  Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place

1. Report Summary

1.1. The report outlines the investigation to extinguish Public Footpath No. 20 
in the Parish of Congleton.  This includes a discussion of consultations 
carried out in respect of the proposal and the legal tests to be considered 
for an extinguishment order to be made.  The proposal has been put 
forward by the Public Rights of Way team as an application has been 
submitted by Miller Homes, Hawthorn House, Woodlands Park, Ashton 
Road, Newton le Willows, WA12 0HF.  The application has been made 
following the granting of planning consent for:

Outline Planning Application: 16/0514C
Land at Back Lane, Congleton
‘Outline application for demolition of some existing building and the 
development of a residential scheme composing up to 140 dwellings, open 
space, landscape, access and associated infrastructure’
Permission granted: 21st December 2017

Reserved Matters Application: 18/4888C
‘Reserved matters application for appearance, landscaping, layout & scale 
following outline approval applications 16/0514C for demolition of some 
existing buildings and the development of up to 140 dwellings’
Permission granted: 13th September 2019

The report makes a recommendation based on that information, for quasi-
judicial decision by Members as to whether or not an Order should be made to 
extinguish the footpath concerned.

1.2. The proposal contributes to the Corporate Plan Outcomes 4 “Cheshire East 
is a green and sustainable place” and 5 “People live well and for longer”, 

Page 35 Agenda Item 6



OFFICIAL

and the policies and objectives of the Council’s statutory Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan.

2. Recommendation/s

2.1. That an Order be made under Section 257 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to extinguish Public Footpath No. 20 Congleton, 
between points A and B, as illustrated on Plan No. TCPA/061 on the 
grounds that the Borough Council is satisfied that it is necessary to do so to 
allow development to take place.   

2.2. Public Notice of the making of the Order be given and in the event of there 
being no objections within the period specified, the Order be confirmed in 
the exercise of the powers conferred on the Council by the said Acts.

2.3. In the event of objections to the Order being received, Cheshire East 
Borough Council be responsible for the conduct of any hearing or public 
inquiry.

3. Reasons for Recommendation/s

3.1. In accordance with Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, as amended by Section 12 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 
2013:

“Subject to section 259, a competent authority may by order authorise the 
stopping up or diversion of any footpath, bridleway or restricted byway if 
they are satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to enable 
development to be carried out in accordance with planning permission 
granted under Part 3 “ 

3.2 It is considered that it is necessary to extinguish Public Footpath No. 20 in the 
Parish of Congleton between points A and B as illustrated on Plan No. 
TCPA/061 to allow for the residential development as detailed within planning 
references: 16/0514C and 18/4888C.  It is considered that the legal test for 
making and confirming of an Extinguishment Order under section 257 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is satisfied.  

3.3    Where objections to the making of an Order are made and not withdrawn, 
the Order will fall to be confirmed by the Secretary of State.  

3.4 Where there are no outstanding objections, it is for the Council to confirm 
the Order. 

3.5 The proposal contributes to the Corporate Plan Outcomes 4 “Cheshire East 
is a green and sustainable place” and 5 “People live well and for longer”, 

Page 36



OFFICIAL

and the policies and objectives of the Council’s statutory Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not applicable – this is a non-executive matter.

5. Background

5.1. An application has been received from Miller Homes, requesting the 
Council make an order under section 257 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to extinguish Public Footpath No.20 in the Parish of 
Congleton as shown between points A and B on Plan No. TCPA/061.  

5.2. Public Footpath No.20 Congleton that will be affected by the proposed 
residential development is shown by a solid black line on Plan No. 
TCPA/061 running between points A and B.  The section commences at 
O.S. grid reference SJ 8397 6413 (point A on plan No. TCPA/061) and runs 
in a generally north westerly direction for a distance of approximately 159 
metres to O.S. grid reference SJ 8387 6426 (point B on plan No. 
TCPA/061).  The line of the footpath, which ran through pasture fields, will 
be obstructed by a house and run across gardens and parking spaces.  

5.3. The planning permissions for the residential development have been 
granted (section 1.1).  It is considered necessary to extinguish Public 
Footpath No. 20 Congleton to enable the residential development that 
would otherwise obstruct the footpath, to go ahead as detailed within these 
planning applications.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. Once an Order is made it may be the subject of objections.  If 
objections are not withdrawn, this removes the power of the local 
highway authority to confirm the order itself, and may lead to a 
hearing/inquiry.  It follows that the Committee decision may be confirmed 
or not confirmed.  This process may involve additional legal support and 
resources.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. If objections to the Order lead to a subsequent hearing/inquiry, this 
legal process would have financial implications for the Council. 

Page 37



OFFICIAL

6.3. Policy Implications 

6.3.1. There are no direct policy implications.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. An assessment in relation to the Equality Act 2010 has been carried out 
by the PROW Network Management and Enforcement Officer for the 
area and it is considered that the proposed paths within the consented 
development would be no less convenient to use than the current 
footpath.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no direct implications for human resources.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no direct implications for risk management.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.9.1 The Council has committed to becoming carbon neutral by 2025 and to 
encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire 
East to reduce their carbon footprint. 

6.9.2 The diversion of the Public Footpath would enable better access to the 
public rights of way network by members of the public on foot with the 
potential for the improvement and promotion of active healthy lifestyles 
and wellbeing.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1 Congleton West Councillors S Akers Smith, S Holland and G Hayes, were 
consulted. 

Page 38



OFFICIAL

7.2 Councillor Akers Smith informed that she would speak with the local 
walking group for their views and questioned whether the developer was 
offering any contribution to cycle lanes, pathways or public open spaces in 
mitigation of allowing this public right of way to be extinguished.  In 
response, it was explained that the consented planning layout includes 
linkages for pedestrians and cyclists into and within the housing area.  
These links enable connections to the shared use footway/cycleway 
alongside Back Lane, to the shared use footway/cycleway alongside the 
Link Road and to the adjacent development site.  Public open space is also 
included in the layout for the site which been granted planning consent.

Whilst these various links are included within the development design, they 
cannot be considered against the legislation under which this proposal is 
being made.   The legal test that has to be met is that the footpath must be 
extinguished to enable the development to go ahead, irrespective of other 
considerations ongoing within the development.

7.3 No comments were received from Councillors Holland and Hayes.  

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1 Congleton Town Council has been consulted.  Congleton Town Council has 
been consulted and commented that access will be improved through the 
development and that given this, they are content with the closure of the 
footpath.    

8.2 The user groups have been consulted.  The local correspondent of the 
Open Spaces Society commented that Public Rights of Way Officer, Clare 
Hibbert, had undertaken an excellent piece of work although did not further 
elaborate.  No comments were received from any other user group.

8.3 The statutory undertakers have been consulted and have raised no 
objections to the proposed extinguishment.  United Utilities, Cadent Gas 
and Openreach registered that they have no objections.  If an 
extinguishment order is made, existing rights of access for the statutory 
undertakers to their apparatus and equipment are protected.

8.4 The Council’s Nature Conservation Officer has been consulted, no 
comments have been received.

9. Access to Information

9.1. The background papers of file No. 090E/588 relating to this report can be 
inspected by contacting the report writer.

Page 39



OFFICIAL

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name:  Marianne Nixon

Job Title:  Public Path Orders Officer

Email:  marianne.nixon@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 40



Back Lane

A

B

Farm
House
Paddock

CR

Wa
rd 

Bd
y

Pond

Congleton FP20
So

merf
ord

 FP
2

So
me

rfo
rd 

FP
1

383800

383800

383900

383900

384000

384000

36
42

00

36
42

00

36
43

00

36
43

00

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100049045.

Proposal to extinguish Congleton Footpath No. 20 under section
257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Plan No.
TCPA/061

1:1,250
±

KEY

Unaffected Public Footpaths
Route to be extinguished

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

Public Rights of Way Committee

Date of Meeting:  09 March 2020

Report Title: Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257 Proposed 
Diversion of Public Footpath Hatherton No. 8 (Part)

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place 

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report outlines the investigation to divert part of Public Footpath No. 8 
in the Parish of Hatherton. This includes a discussion of the consultations 
carried out in respect of the proposal and the legal tests to be considered 
for a diversion Order to be made under the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. The proposal has been put forward by the Public Rights of Way team 
on behalf of Joseph Heler Farms, as a response to a planning application 
that has recently been approved by the Council’s Planning Department, for 
a Cold Store Extension (Planning Application No. 19/2086N).

1.2. The report makes a recommendation based on that information, for a 
quasi-judicial decision by Members as to whether or not a diversion Order 
should be made for that section of public footpath.

1.3. The proposal contributes to the Corporate Plan Outcomes 4 “Cheshire East 
is a green and sustainable place” and 5 “People live well and for longer”, 
and the policies and objectives of the Council’s statutory Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan.

2. Recommendation/s

2.1. A public path diversion Order be made under Section 257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 to divert part of Public Footpath No. 8 in the 
Parish of Hatherton on grounds that the Cheshire East Borough Council is 
satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to enable development to be 
carried out.

2.2. Public notice of the making of the Order be given and in the event of there 
being no objections within the period specified, and in the event that 

Page 43 Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL

planning consent has been granted, the Order be confirmed in the exercise 
of the powers conferred on the Council by the said Act.

2.3. In the event of objections being received, Cheshire East Borough Council 
be responsible for the conduct of any hearing or public inquiry.

3. Reasons for Recommendation/s

3.1. In accordance with Section 257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (“TCPA”) as amended by Section 12 of the Growth and Infrastructure 
Act 2013:

“(1A) Subject to section 259, a competent authority may by Order authorise 
the stopping up or diversion of any footpath, bridleway or restricted byway if 
they are satisfied that—

(a)  an application for planning permission in respect of development has 
been made under Part 3, and 

(b) if the application were granted it would be necessary to authorise the 
stopping up or diversion in order to enable the development to be carried 
out.”

3.2. The Council as the Local Planning Authority can make an Order diverting a 
public footpath if it is satisfied that it is necessary to do so to enable 
development to be carried out, provided a planning application has been 
formally registered with the Council. 

3.3 It is considered that it is necessary to divert part of Footpath No. 8 in the 
Parish of Hatherton, as illustrated on Plan No. TCPA/059, to allow for the 
extension to the Cold Store as detailed within planning reference: 
19/2086N.  

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not applicable – this is a non-executive matter.

5. Background

5.1. An application has been received from Joseph Heler Farms requesting that 
the Council make an Order under section 257 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to divert a section of Public Footpath No. 8 in the Parish 
of Hatherton to enable a cold store extension.

5.2 The land over which the current route runs and over which the proposed 
route would run is owned by Joseph Heler Farms.

Page 44



OFFICIAL

5.3 Planning permission was granted, subject to conditions, on 11 September 
2019.  The application is cited as Proposed Cold Store Extension at Laurels 
Farm, Crewe Road, Hatherton, CW5 7PE (Application No. 19/2086N).

5.4 Public Footpath No. 8 Hatherton commences at its junction with Crewe 
Road (B5071) at O.S. grid reference SJ 6866 4735 and runs in a generally 
easterly and then generally southerly direction to its junction with Public 
Footpath No. 9 Hatherton at O.S. grid reference SJ 6966 4666 for a 
distance of approximately 1316 metres.  The section of path to be diverted 
is shown by a solid black line on Plan No. TCPA/059 running between 
points A-B.  It has a grass surface with no path furniture.  The proposed 
diversion is illustrated with a black dashed line on the same plan, running 
between points A-B.

5.5 The existing alignment of the footpath will be directly affected by the Cold 
store extension as illustrated on Drawing No. 5412.05 Rev D.  It is 
proposed to divert approximately 136 metres of the route.  

5.6 The proposed line for the footpath is a short diversion curving round in a 
south easterly direction, following the boundary of the cold store extension 
for approximately 151 metres (points A-B on Plan No. TCPA/059).  It will be 
unenclosed with a grass surface, no path furniture and a width of two 
metres.  The path will have 2.5 metre ‘grass strips’ on either side and there 
will be a 2.5 metre native shrub mix border along the full length of the 
eastern boundary and the majority of the western boundary, as indicated on 
Drawing No. 5412.05 Rev D.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. Once an Order is made it may be the subject of objections. If 
objections are not withdrawn, this removes the power of the Local 
Highway Authority to confirm the Order itself, and may lead to a hearing 
or Public Inquiry. It follows that the Committee decision may be 
confirmed or not confirmed. This process may involve additional legal 
support and resources.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. If objections to the Order lead to a subsequent hearing or inquiry, this 
legal process would have financial implications for the Council.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no direct policy implications.

Page 45



OFFICIAL

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1 An assessment in relation to the Equality Act 2010 has been carried 
out by the PROW Network Management and Enforcement Officer for 
the area and it is considered that the proposed diversion would be no 
less convenient to use than the current one.  

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no direct human resource implications.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no direct risk management implications.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1 The Council has committed to becoming carbon neutral by 2025 and to 
encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire East to 
reduce their carbon footprint. 

6.10.2 The work of the Public Rights of Way team encourages a reduction in 
carbon emissions and increased environmental sustainability by reducing 
energy consumption and promoting healthy lifestyles through active travel

Ward Members Affected

6.11. Councillor Janet Clowes from the Wynbunbury ward has been consulted.  
No comments have been received.

7. Consultation & Engagement

7.1. Hatherton Parish Council have been consulted, no comments have been 
received.

Page 46



OFFICIAL

7.2. The user groups have been consulted.  The Peak and Northern Footpaths 
Society have responded to state that they do ‘not have any concerns about 
the proposed diversion‘ and ‘will not object to this Order if made’.

7.3. The Open Spaces Society object to the proposed width of two metres for 
the diverted route.  Two metres is the Cheshire East Council’s Public 
Rights of Way team standard width for unenclosed diverted footpaths.  This 
has been the policy, and accepted by user groups, utility companies and 
landowners/applicants, for many years.  A two metre footpath is an 
appropriate width for a public footpath in this environment, providing 
adequate width for two users to pass.  The Open Spaces Society also 
object on the basis that one of the stays for the pylon adjacent to the path 
at its northern end will encroach onto it.  Drawing No. 5412.05 Rev D 
illustrates that the stay is 2 metres from the centre of the path and does not 
encroach onto its width.

7.4. Statutory Undertakers have been consulted. Cadent and National Grid 
have no objection to the proposal.

8. Access to Information

8.1. The Background papers and file 148D/582 relating to this report can be 
inspected by contacting the report writer.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 

Officer Name: Hannah Duncan

Job Title: Definitive Map Officer

Email:  hannah.duncan@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Laurels Farm

Tank

ROAD

LB
TCB

68.3m

64.6m
GP

Track

Drain

Wood ViewAshfields

Silos

Primrose

Crosslands

Cottage

Highfields

Moss Gate
House

Sp
rin

g

The Villa

Rika

5 109

369000

369000

34
70

00

34
70

00

34
75

00

34
75

00

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020. Ordnance Survey 100049045.
±

1:2,500

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 s257
Proposed Diversion of Public Footpath
No. 8 Parish of Hatherton This is a working copy of the definitive map

and should not be used for legal purposes
Plan No.

TCPA/059

A

B

KEY

Path to be Stopped Up
Unaffected Rights of Way

Proposed diversion (A - B)

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



4NoQRO

3NoQRO

3No TC

5NoCB

3NoCB

5NoCB

4NoCB

3NoPA

3NoBP

5NoSA

3NoSA

3No TC

3No TC

3No TC

4NoCB

4NoPA

5No TC

3NoPA

5NoCB

5NoQRO

3NoPP

5No TC

5No TC

5NoCB

3NoQRO

4No TC

5NoQRO

5NoPA

3NoPA

3No TC

5No TC

5NoSA

3NoSA

3NoQUERO

5NoQUERO

3No TE

3No TE

STN 2038

Hardcore

Grass

IC

Tarmac

W

P

W

EP

EP
Stay

Stay

T

70.0

7

0

.

0

7

1

.

0

6

9

.

0

6

9

.
0

4NoQRO

5NoQRO

54NoCORAV

27NoCM

81NoILEA

54NoPRUSP

13NoROSAR

13NoROSCA

27No VIBOP

11No AC

23NoCORAV

35NoCM

11NoILEA

17NoPRUSP

5No TAXBA

11NoBEPE

38NoCORAV

19NoCM

57NoILEA

38NoPRUSP

9NoROSAR

9NoROSCA

19No VIBOP

91NoCORAV

45NoCM

136NoILEA

91NoPRUSP

22NoROSAR

22NoROSCA

45No VIBOP

4NoCB

5NoBP

4NoBP

5NoSA

5NoSA

1NoPP

1NoPP

3No TE

3No TE

3No TE

571No AC

1143NoCORAV

1714NoCM

571NoILEA

857NoPRUSP

285No TAXBA

571NoBEPE

304No AC

609NoCORAV

914NoCM

304NoILEA

457NoPRUSP

152No TAXBA

304NoBEPE

2.5M

2.5M
2.5M

2.5 METER NATIVE SHRUB MIX

2.5M
2.5M

2.5 METER GRASS STRIP

2.5 METER GRASS STRIP

2.5 METER NATIVE SHRUB MIX

2.5M

2.5M2.5M

5M

5M

5M

5M

5M

5M

2 M from Stay to

center of path.

3.5 M from stay to

center of path.

5.5M Wide Path.

2M

2M

2M

2M

2M

223NoCM

111NoCsc

223NoPRUSP

74NoRca

111NoUe

FEATHERED TREE

NATIVE SHRUB MIX

KEY

RETAINED

TREE/GROUP

(Canopy and RPA)

EXTRA HEAVY

TREE

GRASS

WOODLAND MIX

NATIVE HEDGE

NEW PUBLIC RIGHT

OF WAY CENTRE

LINE (2 Metres)

EXISTING PUBLIC

RIGHT OF WAY

Total :742 -

111 -6/mB60-80cmTransplant 1+1Ulex europaeusUe

74 -6/mB60-80cmTransplant 1+1Rosa caninaRca

223 -6/mB60-80cmTransplant 1+1Prunus spinosaPRUSP

111 -6/mB60-80cmTransplant 1+1Cytisus scopariusCsc

223 -6/mB60-80cmTransplant 1+1Crataegus monogynaCM

Number of PlantsDensityPot SizeGirthHeightSpecificationSpeciesAbbreviation

Native Hedge Mix

Total :910 -

91 -10%1/m²B60-80cmTransplantViburnum opulusVIBOP

44 -5%1/m²B60-80cmTransplantRosa caninaROSCA

44 -5%1/m²B60-80cmTransplantRosa arvensisROSAR

183 -20%1/m²B60-80cmTransplantPrunus spinosaPRUSP

274 -30%1/m²3L60-80cmTransplantIlex aquifoliumILEA

183 -20%1/m²B60-80cmTransplantCorylus avellanaCORAV

91 -10%1/m²B60-80cmTransplantCrataegus monogynaCM

Number of PlantsMix Species ContributionDensityPot SizeGirthHeightSpecificationSpeciesAbbreviation

Native Shrub Mix

Total :8869 -

442 -1/m²3LTransplantTaxus baccataTAXBA

1331 -1/m²B60-80cmTransplantPrunus spinosaPRUSP

886 -1/m²3L60-80cmTransplantIlex aquifoliumILEA

1775 -1/m²B60-80cmTransplantCorylus avellanaCORAV

2663 -1/m²B60-80cmTransplantCrataegus monogynaCM

886 -1/m²BTransplantBetula pendulaBEPE

886 -1/m²B60-80cmTransplantAcer campestreAC

Number of PlantsDensityPot SizeHeightSpecificationSpeciesAbbreviation

Woodland Mix

Total :187 -

15 -BRExtra Heavy Standard: 3x16-18cmmin. 450cmTilia euchloraTE

39 -BFeather: 2x200-250cmTilia cordataTC

26 -BFeather: 2x200-250cmSorbus aucupariaSA

8 -RBExtra Heavy Standard: 3x16-18cmmin. 450cmQuercus roburQUERO

29 -BFeather: 2x200-250cmQuercus roburQRO

5 -RBExtra Heavy Standard: 3x16-18cmmin. 450cmPrunus padusPP

18 -BFeather: 2x200-250cmPrunus aviumPA

35 -BFeather: 2x200-250cmCarpinus betulusCB

12 -BFeather: 2x200-250cmBetula pendulaBP

Number of PlantsPot SizeSpecificationGirthHeightSpeciesAbbreviation

Trees

Plant Schedule

LANDSCAPE PROPOSALS

1:250

@ A0

5412.05

Rev

Scale(s)

Dwn

Date

Chkd

Title

Dwg no

Project

No dimension to be scaled from this drawing

 C  Copyright reserved

Date

Rev

Jan 19

JW DG

Dwn

   Tel: 0161-804 2099

  E-mail: info@trevorbridge.co.uk

  Landscape Architecture

Arboriculture

Trevor Bridge Associates Ltd

     Ashton-under-Lyne

       Lancs OL6 7FW

Stamford Street West

Ashton Old Baths

LAURELS FARM, CREWE ROAD

JOSEPH HELER CHEESE

SPECIFICATION

GROUND PREPARATION - GENERAL

Preparing for topsoiling

Grading and cultivation shall be in accordance with BS 4428:1989 section 4. Subsoil that

is to receive topsoil shall, whether obviously overcompacted or not, be thoroughly broken

up by hand, by heavy rotovator, by subsoiler or tined equipment with adequate passes

made to thoroughly break up the surface to a depth of 150mm, cleared of all large

stones, bricks, perennial weeds, tree roots (excluding living tree roots), coarse vegetation

and other extraneous matter.

Subsoil grading

Subsoil shall only be graded after loosening as above, and this shall be undertaken by

the use of a tractor and blade grader on large areas and by a small mechanical grader or

by hand on small areas. Ground shall at no time be traversed by heavy machinery, for

grading or any other purpose after subsoiling and/or topsoiling has taken place.

Making up levels

When subsoil is deposited in low lying areas to raise formation levels, it shall be lightly

consolidated and left broken up ready to receive topsoil. Imported fill material shall be

natural subsoil free from metal, concrete or organic material with any one dimension

greater than 100mm. All imported fill material shall be approved by the Landscape

Architect prior to spreading on site.

Supply of topsoil

Topsoil to be supplied shall be approved by the Landscape Architect and details of the

source of supply shall be provided in order that inspection may be made before delivery

commences. Topsoil shall conform to BS 3882: 2015, Recommendations and

classification for topsoil, clause 4.1a. The soil shall be free of weeds, roots or perennial

weeds, pests, diseases, debris, tree roots, sticks, subsoil and foreign matter and shall be

capable of being broken down to a fine tilth.

Temporary topsoil heaps

The depositing of temporary heaps of topsoil shall be so arranged that possible damage

to existing grass, plants, tarmacadam, paving etc, is avoided. Unless otherwise agreed

by the Landscape Architect, temporary spoil heaps shall be on protected ground. Such

protection shall take the form of tarpaulins, plastic sheets, boards or similar covering. If

damage does occur, it shall be made good at the contractor's own expense. Areas

excavated to receive topsoil but have not had the base loosened shall not be used as

temporary off loading areas. If the bottom of the excavation has been loosened off,

loading on these areas is permissible.

Spreading topsoil

Prior to topsoil replacement the formation level shall be cleared of all stones, rubbish,

debris with any one dimension greater than 75mm. Areas to be seeded or turfed shall be

covered by topsoil 100mm thick and areas to be planted shall be covered by topsoil

400mm thick. Topsoil shall be spread in an evenly consolidated layer and shall be left

cleared of all roots, stones and debris with any one dimension greater than 50mm

throughout its depth. Unless otherwise stated the finished level shall be 25mm above

adjacent hard areas. No topsoil shall be spread until the subsoil grade has been

inspected by a Landscape Architect.

PLANTING

Cultivation

Planting areas shall be rotovated to a depth of 225mm in the original ground, or where

the ground is compacted, ripped and rotovated.

Pick off stones, bricks, timber and all other debris arising which have any dimensions

greater than 50mm and remove off site to tip.  Do not cultivate across any drain where

the stone is flush with the ground surface.

Soil improvers

Where directed composts, fertilisers or other additives shall be incorporated into the soil.

Spent mushroom compost or similar shall be spread to the specified thickness and

incorporated, by rotovating, into the top 150mm. Fertilisers, organic or inorganic, shall be

raked into the top 25mm.

Rejection of plants

All plant material should comply with the minimum requirements in BS 3936:part 1,

specification for trees and shrubs and part 4, specification for forest trees; BS 4043,

recommendations for transplanting semi-mature trees and BS 5236 recommendations

for cultivation and planting trees in the advanced nursery stock category. Any plant

material, which in the opinion of the Landscape Architect, does not meet the

requirements of the Specification, or is unsuitable, or defective in any other way, will be

rejected. The minimum specified sizes in the plant schedule will be strictly enforced. The

contractor shall replace all plants rejected at his own cost.

Planting

All plant material shall generally be planted between November and March in open cool

weather. Planting shall not take place in frosty, snowy or waterlogged conditions. Where

approved, pot or container grown plants may be planted outside the described season,

but adequate watering shall be supplied. Torn or damaged roots and branches shall be

cleanly pruned prior to planting.

Planting of whips, transplants and shrubs

The nature of the material to be planted is variable and the contractor shall allow for

planting to be properly carried out in all cases as described in BS 4428: 1989 section 7

Amenity tree planting, section 8 Woodland planting and section 9 Planting of shrubs,

herbaceous and bulbs. All plants shall be planted at same depth, or very slightly deeper,

as they were grown. Roots shall not be bent, broken or forced into inadequate pits or

notches. Plants shall be upright, firmed in and wind resistant, with no air pockets around

roots. All pots and root wrappings shall be carefully removed prior to planting. All pots

and wrappings arising shall immediately be picked up and stored ready for removal to tip.

Plants shall be planted at the specified centres. On steep slopes this shall be in the

horizontal measure.

Tree planting within soft landscape areas

Trees shall conform to BS: 3936 and be planted in tree pits of the following sizes unless

directed otherwise:

Feathered trees - 900 x 900 x 450 up to 3 metres high

Selected standards - 1000 x 1000 x 600 up to 4.25 metres high

Heavy standards/Extra heavy standards - 1200 x 1200 x 600

Excavated subsoil or stone shall be carted off site to tip. The bottom 250mm of the pit

shall be dug and broken up. The bottom of the pit shall be backfilled with subsoil (site or

imported) to comply with BS 8601: 2013. The top 300mm of the pit shall be backfilled

with imported topsoil as specified unless directed otherwise.

Compost for planting pits

Compost shall be a proprietary product, bark based incorporating fertilisers  and

improving additives. The type of compost shall be approved before its delivery on site,

and the details of the product shall be supplied. Cambark planting compost is approved.

Where directed compost shall be added to and mixed with topsoil backfill at the following

rates:

Feathered trees - 40  litres

Selected standards - 60 litres

Heavy standards/Extra heavy standards  - 80 litres

Stakes for trees

Stakes shall be peeled round softwood, pointed, minimum diameter 75mm. The stakes

shall be driven into the base of the tree pit prior to placing the tree and backfilling.

Stakes shall in general have a clear height above the finished ground level as follows

unless directed otherwise:

Feathered trees - 750mm (one tie)

Selected standards - 900mm (2 stakes, one tie each)

Heavy standards/Extra heavy standards  - 1200mm (2 stakes, one tie each)

The stake shall be long enough to drive until they hold the tree firmly without rocking.

Tree ties

Ties for bareroot trees, shall be approved rubber nail-on type with cushioned spacer such

as Toms, or other equal and approved. Nails shall be flat headed galvanised and shall

hold the ties securely into the stake. Ties shall not be over tight on the tree stems. Ties

available from J Toms Limited, Wheeler Street, Headcorn, Ashford, Kent, TN27 9SH.

Feathered Type - 04 (one tie)

Select standards - Type L1 (one tie per stake)

Heavy standards/Extra heavy standards - Type L3 (one tie per stake)

Ties for rootball and container grown trees shall be 50mm rubber tree belts in a figure of

eight around the tree. Fixed to the stake with two flat head galvanised nails.

Feathered - one belt

Select standards Type - two belts

Heavy standards/Extra heavy standards - two belts

Planting of trees

The tree shall be set upright and at the same depth as grown in the nursery, the roots

shall be spread out (bareroot) and the subsoil followed by compost topsoil mixture,

backfilled. Backfilling should be done to ensure close contact between roots and by

firming in layers (bareroot). The soil shall be left level and tidy, any subsoil clods, bricks

or stones over 50mm arising, collected and carted off site.

Mulching

A 75mm compacted layer of medium grade pulverised bark, with a particle size of not

more than 100mm and containing no more than 10% fines, shall be spread to form a

continuous layer covering the whole of the bed, or in the case of standard trees within

grass shall be in the form of a circle of 600mm diameter around the base of the tree.

Whips and transplants shall be mulched in the form of a 300mm diameter circle around

the base of the tree. Where trees are planted within grass a circular hemp mulch mat is

required beneath the layer of mulch at the diameters stated above, secured with fixing

pegs. The tree pit surface shall be as big as possible.

Planting of trees

The tree shall be set upright and at the same depth as grown in the nursery. The trunk

flare at the base shall be just visible and the pit backfilled with subsoil and then topsoil

compost mixture. The soil shall be left level and tidy, any subsoil clods, bricks or stones

over 50mm arising, collected and carted off site.

PROTECTION TO EXISTING TREES

MAINTENANCE

All maintenance to be carried out up to handover to the adopting authority/ householder

from the date of planting and turfing to ensure successful establishment. All dead,

diseased, damaged plants must be replaced during this time unless the local Planning

Authority states, in writing, any variation to this.

Weeding

All beds to be kept weed free by hand weeding. Beds to be forked over as necessary to

keep soil loose to approved cambers with no hollows.

Pruning

At appropriate time, prune plants to remove dead, dying or diseased wood and suckers

to promote healthy growth and natural shape.

Watering

The Contractor shall ensure that sufficient water is applied to maintain healthy growth.

Litter

Site to be kept free of litter.

Grass cutting

The initial cut shall be carried out when first growth is apparent, blades set 20mm above

ground. The Contractor shall continue cutting at appropriate intervals during the growing

season and maintain 40mm high sward until grass areas are handed over. Watering,

weeding, cutting, repair of all erosion and settlement and re-seeding as necessary to

establish a uniform and healthy stand of grass shall continue until handover to the

householder.

D

Footpath position updated June 19 A JW

Annotation/ Measurements Added.
Oct 19 B BH

Annotation/ Measurements Added.
Nov 19 C BH

Client Comments
Jan 20 D BH

Page 51

AutoCAD SHX Text
74.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
74.53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
74.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
74.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
74.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
74.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
74.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
74.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
74.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
74.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
74.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
74.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
74.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
74.28

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
74.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
74.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
74.61

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
74.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
74.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
70.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
70.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
71.36

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
71.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
71.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
71.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
71.95

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
72.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
72.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
72.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
72.08

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
72.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
72.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
71.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
71.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
72.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
71.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
71.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
71.63

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
71.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
71.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
70.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
72.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
73.48

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
72.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
72.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
73.07

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
72.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
73.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
73.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
73.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
69.27

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
69.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
70.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
70.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
70.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
70.32

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
70.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
70.35

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
70.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
70.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
70.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
70.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
70.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
70.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
70.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
70.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
70.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
70.51

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
70.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
70.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
70.54

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
70.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
70.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
70.90

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
71.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
71.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
71.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
72.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
71.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
71.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
71.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
71.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
71.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
71.72

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
71.79

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
72.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
72.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
72.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
72.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
72.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
72.03

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
72.12

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
68.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
69.24

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
69.15

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
69.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
69.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
69.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
69.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
69.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
69.16

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
69.11

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
69.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
70.59

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
70.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
70.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
70.26

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
70.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
70.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
69.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
69.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
69.60

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
69.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
69.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
69.45

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
69.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
69.18

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
69.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
69.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
69.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
69.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
69.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
70.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
69.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
68.37

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
69.02

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
69.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
Gate

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
77.46

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
77.42

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
76.77

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
Valley Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
72.91

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
73.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
72.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
71.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
73.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
72.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
74.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
72.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
71.86

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
72.96

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
72.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
EH

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
70.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
69.62

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
69.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
69.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
69.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
69.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
69.38

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
69.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
69.52

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
69.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
70.39

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
70.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
FL

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
76.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
76.25

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
74.66

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
Tank Height

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
74.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
72.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
71.19

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
GP

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
76.68

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
81.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
80.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
80.23

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
73.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
73.22

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
73.30

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
72.20

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
72.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
73.14

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
72.81

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
RH

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
Tank Height

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
Tank Height

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
TH

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
TH

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
Tank Height

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
Tank Height

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
Barbed Wire Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
Barbed Wire Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
Barbed Wire Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
Barbed Wire Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
Barbed Wire Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
Post & Rail

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
Fence



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

Public Rights of Way Committee

Date of Meeting: 09 March 2020

Report Title: Informative Report on Cases of Uncontested Public Path Orders 
Determined under Delegated Decision

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan, Executive Director - Place

1. Report Summary

1.1. The report informs Members of the uncontested Public Path Order cases that have 
been determined under delegated decision by the Executive Director of Place in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the Committee.

2. Recommendation/s

2.1. That the report be noted.

3. Reasons for Recommendation/s

3.1. The report is for information only.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not applicable – this is a non-executive matter.

5. Background

5.1 Under the Council’s Constitution and Local Scheme of Delegation under the 
cascade principle, the Public Rights of Way Manager, in consultation with 
the Chair and Vice Chair of the Public Rights of Way Committee, may 
determine Public Path Order cases which are not contested or contentious 
at the pre-order consultation stage.

5.2 This report provides an update on decisions taken under this delegation:

5.2.1 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257 Proposed Diversion 
of Restricted Byway Wilmslow No. 22 (Part)

Page 53 Agenda Item 8



OFFICIAL

5.2.2 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257 Proposed Diversion 
of Public Footpaths No. 7 and No. 8 (parts) in the Parish of Weston

5.3 Reports for cases determined through this process can be viewed on the 
Public Rights of Way webpages at 
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/leisure,_culture_and_tourism/public_rights
_of_way/path_orders/Public-Path-Order-Delegated-Decision-Reports.aspx.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. There are no legal implications.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are no financial implications.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. There are no policy implications. 

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. There are no equality implications.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no human resource implications.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. There are no risk management implications.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.8.1. There are no implications for children and young people.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no implications for public health.

Page 54

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/leisure,_culture_and_tourism/public_rights_of_way/path_orders/Public-Path-Order-Delegated-Decision-Reports.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/leisure,_culture_and_tourism/public_rights_of_way/path_orders/Public-Path-Order-Delegated-Decision-Reports.aspx


OFFICIAL

6.10 Climate Change Implications

6.10.1 The Council has committed to becoming carbon neutral by 2025 and to 
encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire East to 
reduce their carbon footprint. 

6.10.2 The work of the Public Rights of Way team encourages a reduction in 
carbon emissions and increased environmental sustainability by reducing 
energy consumption and promoting healthy lifestyles through active travel

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All Wards.  Consultation with Ward Members is undertaken to inform the 
decision on each Public Path Order case.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. Consultation with Public Rights of Way user groups and statutory 
consultees is undertaken to inform the decision on each Public Path Order 
case.

9. Access to Information

9.1. Not applicable.

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Genni Butler

Job Title: Acting Public Rights of Way Manager

Email: genni.butler@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 55

mailto:genni.butler@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 - Part III, Section 53: Application no. CO/8/52: Application for the Addition of a Public Right of Way along a route known as Manor Drive between Nantwich Road (A530) and Kerridge Close, Parish of Middlewich
	Plan
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	6 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257: Application for the Extinguishment of Public Footpath No. 20, Parish of Congleton
	Plan

	7 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257:  Proposed Diversion of Public Footpath Hatherton No. 8 (Part)
	Plan
	Drawing
	Sheets and Views
	5412.03D



	8 Informative Report on Cases of Uncontested Public Path Orders Determined under Delegated Decision

